# 74050-4

# 74050-1

## FILED March 8, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

### NO. 74050-4-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### PAULINE LOUISE CONNER,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

EVERHOME MORTGAGE COMPANY, a division of EVERBANK, REGIONAL TRUSTEE SERVICES, MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., a/k/a MERSCORP, FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION, LENDER PROCESSING SERVICES, DOES I-XXX, INCLUSIVE,

Defendants/Respondents.

### **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF**

### **KOVAC & JONES, PLLC**

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment when there were numerous issues of material fact in dispute, in violation of *CR 56*.

B. The trial court erred in accepting the testimony of Bradley Lee, and Deborah Kaufman on summary judgment, in the absence of compliance with the provisions of RCW 5.45.020 and ER 803(a)(6).

C. The trial court erred in declining to consider Appellant's claims for violation of the Washington Deed of Trust Act (*RCW 61.24, et seq.*) (hereinafter "DTA"); violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act (*RCW 19.86, et seq.*) (hereinafter "CPA") on the erroneous belief she did not plead violations of the DTA.

D. The trial court erred in ignoring the trustee's breach of its duty of good faith under *RCW 61.24,010* on the erroneous belief that Appellant failed to plead violations of the DTA.

E. The trial court erred in ignoring a facially ambiguous "Affidavit of Possession" that violated the provisions of  $RCW \, 61.24.030(7)(a)$ .

F. The trial court erred in dismissing Appellant's meritorious CPA claims on the erroneous belief she did not plead violations of the DTA.

G. The trial court erred in refusing to permit Ms. Conner additional time to obtain the testimony of a competent representative of U.S. Bank prior to summary judgment, pursuant to CR 56(f).

1

#### **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant, PAULINE LOUISE CONNER (hereinafter Ms. Conner), is the owner on title of certain real property situated in Snohomish County, State of Washington, commonly known as 21604 78<sup>th</sup> Avenue S.E., Woodinville, Washington 98072 (hereinafter the "Property").

On or about May 23, 2006, Ms. Conner executed a Promissory Note (hereinafter "Note") in favor of Irwin Mortgage Corporation (hereinafter "Irwin"), as lender and the party entitled to payments according to its terms. CP 140-142. This transaction was purportedly registered with Respondent, MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTMES, INC. (hereinafter "MERS") by Irwin under MIN No. 1000139-0080839558-0. At no time relevant to this cause of action was MERS a true and lawful owner and holder of this Note.

To secure repayment of the Promissory Note, Ms. Conner, as grantor, executed a Deed of Trust dated May 23, 2006, naming Pacific Northwest Title, as the trustee, and MERS as named beneficiary, solely as a nominee for Irwin Mortgage Corporation, the Lender, and Lender's successors and assigns and encumbered the subject Property. Ms. Conner's Deed of Trust was recorded with the Snohomish County Auditor under Recording No. 200606050432 (hereinafter the "Deed of Trust"). CP 148-164.

As of May 23, 2006, and at no time thereafter, did Ms. Conner owe any monetary or other obligation to MERS, nor has MERS ever been a holder and owner of the subject Promissory Note or other evidence of debt executed contemporaneously with the Deed of Trust as the term is defined under *RCW* 61.24.005(2).

On or about June 9, 2006, the Federal National Mortgage Association (hereinafter "Fannie Mae") purportedly purchase the Note and Deed of Trust and Respondent, EVERHOME MORTGAGE COMPANY (hereinafter "Everhome Mortgage") was allegedly retained only to service the loan. CP 924.

On August 27, 2009, Ms. Conner spoke to representatives of Everhome Mortgage who advised her to make two months of payments by August 31, 2009 to "avoid foreclosure". CP 841. On August 31, 2009, Ms. Conner's daughter-in-law called Everhome Mortgage to make payment as advised, but was told the property was already in foreclosure. CP 841.

On or about September 2, 2009, Rick Wilken, as purported Assistant Vice President of MERS, as Nominee for Irwin Mortgage Corporation, executed an Assignment of the Deed of Trust, assigning the MERS' beneficial interest in the Deed of Trust <u>together with the note or</u> <u>notes</u> therein described to Everhome Mortgage. CP 1115-1116. At no time relevant to this cause of action did MERS ever own or hold the Note. Said Assignment was recorded under Snohomish County Auditor's Recording No. 200910200613 on October 20, 2009.

Also executed on September 2, 2009 by Rick Wilken, only this time in his capacity as "Vice President" rather than as "Assistant Vice President" for MERS, as nominee for Irwin Mortgage Corporation, was an Appointment of Successor Trustee, appointing Respondent, REGIONAL TRUSTEE SERVICES CORPORATION (hereinafter "Regional Trustee") as successor trustee. CP 668-669. Said Appointment of Successor Trustee was not recorded until October 20, 2009, under Snohomish County Auditor's Recording No. 200910200614.

On September 8, 2009, Michele de Craen, as Assistant Vice President of Everhome Mortgage, executed an Affidavit of Possession of Note. CP 757. The Affidavit alleges Everhome Mortgage to be the "owner" of the Note, rather than the "holder". Her Affidavit, however, provides that she has "either personal knowledge of the facts set forth in this Affidavit <u>or</u> have made appropriate inquiry of those individuals having knowledge of the facts," essentially offering hearsay to fulfill the requirements under RCW 61.24.030(7)(a).

4

On September 18, 2009, Regional Trustee, as purported "trustee and/or agent for the Beneficiary", executed and served a Notice of Default. CP 660-663.

On October 19, 2009, Regional Trustee, as successor trustee, executed, recorded and served a Notice of Trustee's Sale, setting a sale date for January 22, 2010. CP 671-674. Said Notice of Trustee's Sale was recorded under Snohomish County Auditor's Recording No. 200910200615 on October 20, 2009. Pursuant to  $RCW \ 61.24.010(2)$ , "Only upon recording the appointment of a successor trustee in each county in which the deed of trust is recorded, the successor trustee shall be vested with all powers of an original trustee." The appointment of successor trustee was not recorded until October 20, 2009, in violation of  $RCW \ 61.24.040$ .

In connection with the issuance of the Notice of Trustee's Sale, Regional Trustee prepared and executed a Notice of Foreclosure pursuant to  $RCW \ 61.24.040$  indicating delinquent payments from May 1, 2009 to October 23, 2009, a period of <u>6</u> months. CP 682-684. However, the Notice of Foreclosure lists <u>9</u> delinquent payments. Moreover, there is no accounting for the <u>2</u> payments Ms. Conner made on August 31, 2009.

The Trustee's Sale set for January 22, 2010, was postponed/continued until the Property was eventually foreclosed on April

5

16, 2010, and the Trustee's Deed was recorded on April 29, 2010, under Snohomish County Recording No. 201004290388. CP 1127-1128.

On April 13, 2011, a Consent Order was entered into between EverBank Financial Corp., of which Everhome Mortgage is a purported subsidiary/division, and the Office of Thrift Supervision. CP 55, CP 219-239, CP 1193. Much of the conduct complained of here has apparently occurred numerous times before.

On October 20, 2011, Fannie Mae quit claimed its ownership interest in the subject property to "Everbank". Fannie Mae's Quit Claim Deed was recorded on December 13, 2011, under Snohomish County Recording No. 201112128185. CP 244-246.

On March 8, 2012, an Order Staying Proceedings was entered by the trial court, ordering Ms. Conner to make monthly payments into the Court Registry beginning April 8, 2012, and each month thereafter in the amount of \$2,381.62. CP 241-242. As of July 31, 2015, the Superior Court Clerk verified that \$95,286.69 has been deposited by Ms. Conner. CP 135.

On February 13, 2012, Plaintiff filed her Complaint of record herein alleging causes of action against the named Respondents. CP 1257-1269. On May 14, 2012, Plaintiff filed her First Amended Complaint herein. CP 1192-1205.

Respondents filed their Motion for Summary Judgment on July 9, 2015, seeking dismissal as to all causes of action. CP 763-779.

On August 4, 2015, Ms. Conner moved for continuance of the hearing on summary judgment, pursuant to CR 56(f), seeking specific information, in the absence of an answer to Ms. Conner's Amended Complaint. CP 79-85.

On August 7, 2015, Respondents answered Ms. Conner's Amended Complaint. CP 54-62. However, this did not provide Ms. Conner sufficient time prior to hearing on summary judgment to conduct discovery.

On September 14, 2015, the trial court heard Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgement and Ms. Conner's Motion to Continue the Hearing. The trial court, *inter alia*, denied Ms. Conner's Motion to Continue the Hearing (*CR 56(f)*) and took the remaining issues under advisement. CP 16.

On September 22, 2015, the trial court entered its Memorandum Decision, granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment, dismissing all of Ms. Conner's claims. CP 10-15.

7

On October 9, 2015, Ms. Conner timely filed her Notice of Appeal to this Court. CP 1-9

#### **III. ARGUMENT**

#### A. Standard of Review.

A trial court's summary dismissal of claims under *CR 56* is reviewed *de novo*, taking all inferences in the record in favor of the nonmoving party. *Hayden v. Mutual of Enumclaw Insurance Co.*, 141 Wn.2d 55, 1 P.3d 1167 (2000); *Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Group, LLC*, 117 Wn.2d 94, 297 P.3d 677 (2013) (hereinafter "*Schroeder*") (citing *Dreiling v. Jain*, 151 Wn.2d 900, 93 P.3d 861 (2004); *Hauber v. Yakima County*, 147 Wn.2d 655, 56 P.3d 559 (2002); *Bavand v. OneWest Bank*, *FSB*, 176 Wn.App 475, 485, 309 P.3d 636 (2013) (hereinafter "*Bavand*"). Summary judgment is only appropriate if there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Balise v. Underwood*, 62 Wn.2d 195, 381 P2d 966 (1963); *Schroeder*; *Herring v. Texaco, Inc.*, 161 Wn.2d 189, 165 P.3d 4 (2007); *Bavand*, at page 485.

The initial burden on summary judgment is on the moving party to prove that no material issue is genuinely in dispute. CR 56. Sworn statements on summary judgment must be (1) made on personal knowledge, (2) setting forth facts as would be admissible in evidence and (3) showing affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matter stated in the sworn statement. *Snohomish County v. Rugg*, 115 Wn.App. 218, 61 P.3d 1184 (2002); *Blomster v. Nordstrom*, 103 Wn.App. 252, 11 P.3d 883 (2000); *Lilly v. Lynch*, 88 Wn.App. 306, 945 P.2d 727 (1997).

In reviewing the evidence submitted on summary judgment, facts asserted by the non-moving party and supported by affidavits or other appropriate evidentiary material must be taken as true. *State ex rel Bond v. State*, 62 Wn.2d 487, 383 P.2d 288 (1963).

Summary judgment is appropriate if reasonable persons can reach only one conclusion from all of the evidence, viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Shows v. Pemperton*, 73 Wn.App. 107, 868 P.2d 164 (1994); *Doherty v. Munipality of Metro*, 83 Wn.App. 464, 921 P.2d 1098 (1996); *Goad v. Hambridge*, 85 Wn.App. 98, 931 P.2d 200 (1997). When there is contradictory evidence, or the moving parties' evidence is impeached, an issue of credibility is presented and the Court should not resolve issues of credibility on summary judgment, but should reserve the issue of credibility for trial. *Balise v. Underwood, supra*.

Based upon the foregoing and the documentary evidence that was before the trial court, particularly the Declarations of Brandley Lee (CP 716-719), Deborah Kaufman (CP 653-687), Brenda Lang (CP 688-699), Glenn Perrell (CP 700-703), Wesley Werich (CP 705-706), Rita Conner (CP 840-867), Jill Smith (CP 868-872) and the Declaration of Counsel (CP 130-652),<sup>1</sup> there were genuine issues of material fact before the trial court inconsistent with any summary dismissal of Ms. Conner's claims.

# B. The Trial Court's Reliance of Declarations of Lee and Kaufman was Misplaced.

On summary judgment, Respondents relied on the Declarations of Brandley Lee (CP 716-719) and Deborah Kaufman (CP 653-687). However, Respondents' and the trial court's reliance on these Declarations was misplaced.

Each declarant claims to have "personally reviewed" the business records maintained by their respective employers and has "personal knowledge" of the facts they related to the trial court. However, neither of the declarants demonstrated sufficient personal and testimonial knowledge of the facts offered the trial court beyond conclusory statements and statements based exclusively on hearsay. *ER 801, ER 802, CR 56(e).* 

The business records offered on summary judgment must be identified by an employee of the company who created the document, a records custodian or the person who supervised the documents' creation to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It is significant to note that the Court's Memorandum Decision (CP 10-15) failed to list any of Ms. Conner's sworn statements, including the Declarations of Rita Conner (CP 840-867), Jill Smith (CP 868-872) and the Declaration of Counsel (CP 130-652) which were before the Court on summary judgment, in violation of CR 56(h).

be admissible. *State v. Meyer*, 27 Wn.2d 759, 226 P.2d 204 (1951); *Fies v. Story*, 21 Wn.App. 413, 585 P.2d 190 (1978) (overruled on different grounds *Chaplin v. Sanders*, 100 Wn.2d 853, 676 P.2d 431 (1984)); *State v. Alexander*, 64 Wn.App. 147, 822 P.2d 1250 (1992). The "business record" exception to the hearsay rule does not extend to records and information compiled and received from third parties. *State v. Weeks*, 70 Wn.2d 951, 425 P.2d 885 (1967). See generally, Tegland, *Washington Practice: Evidence* § 803.39 (5<sup>th</sup> Ed. 2007).

Moreover, conclusory statements or "mere averment" that the affiant has personal knowledge are insufficient to support a motion for summary judgment. *CR* 56(e); Blomster at page 260; Editorial Commentary to *CR* 56 (citing Antonio v. Barnes, 464 F2d 584, 585 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1972)). Indeed, the contents of a business record cannot be established by a witness' oral testimony, the actual document must be offered. *ER* 803(a)(6) and (7); *ER* 1002; State v. Fricks, 91 Wn.2d 391, 397, 588 P.2d 1328 (1979) ("In this case the State failed to produce the document or to make any showing of its unavailability. Under these circumstances the testimony of a manager as to its contents was not an acceptable method of proof.")

With these requirements in mind, Ms. Kaufman's and Mr. Lee's specific factual allegations must be critically considered.

Ms. Kaufman and Mr. Lee each indicate they reviewed documents, but fail to identify the specific documents they reviewed, ambiguously referring to the records as "compilations" "business records", etc. of their respective firms. However, these "business records" necessarily include records and information complied by third parties (hearsay). Under Washington law, such third-party information and records must be separately authenticated by the third party who compiled the records to meet the business records exception to the hearsay rule and meet the requirement that such testimony must be based on personal knowledge from the third party's records custodian that satisfies each of the elements of RCW 5.45.020. State v. Weeks, supra; (affirming trial court's decision that out-of-state hospital record proffered by physician was inadmissible hearsay and business records exception to hearsay rule was not established because "[t]here was no evidence by the custodian of records of the Arkansas hospital or by any other qualified person that the document in question was a business record"); MRC Receivables Corp. v. Zion, 152 Wn. App. 625, 631 & n. 9, 218 P.3d 621 (2009) (reversing summary judgment entered in favor of debt collector, and identifying as one of the issues for determination on remand whether "Sharp's affidavit [submitted by debt collector in support of summary judgment] presented only inadmissible hearsay" and met business records exception to hearsay rule, given the "lack of an explanation for how Sharp's status as a Midland employee provide[d] her with personal knowledge of her assertions regarding MRC, Zion's account with Providian, and how MRC came to own it"). Absent a proper foundation, the testimony of Ms. Kaufman (a representative of Regional Trustee) and Mr. Lee (a representative of EverBank) should have been stricken and disregarded by the trial court on summary judgment.

Specifically, in Ms. Kaufman's Declaration, states that "Regional's involvement began . . . when it received a referral for foreclosure from Everbank," referring to an Exhibit "A". CP 654. However, the subject referral came from a company called "LPS", a third party – not EverBank. In fact, the alleged referral indicates that LPS made the referral on behalf of Everhome Mortgage – not EverBank. CP 658. There is no indication that Regional Trustee investigated or verified the information it received from LPS, as required under *RCW 61.24.010, Lyons v. U.S. Bank*, 181 Wn.2d 775, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014) (hereinafter "*Lyons*") and *Trujillo v. NWTS*, 183 Wn.2d 820, 355 P.3d 1100 (2015) (hereinafter "*Trujillo II*"). The referral (Exhibit "A") does not indicate where LPS got its information, the claim that Ms. Conner was in default or who may have made such a claim, or otherwise provide a justification or authority for initiating a non-judicial foreclosure (hearsay). Whatever information LPS

had, it would certainly not have been a "business record" of Regional Trustee. Moreover, as LPS has never been identified as an owner, holder, servicer or investor in the loan at any time relevant to this cause of action, LPS' information would necessarily have come from some other undisclosed third party (hearsay). The source of Regional Trustee's referral and the quality of the information it relied upon should have been material to the trial court on summary judgment to establish Regional Trustee's authority to initiate a non-judicial foreclosure and Regional Trustee's compliance with its duties under the DTA – without this referral, Regional Trustee would never have had colorable authority to initiate a foreclosure of Ms. Conner's home in the first instance.

Furthermore, Ms. Kaufman indicates that Regional Trustee relied on an Affidavit of Possession to initiate the subject foreclosure, but fails to provide a copy of the affidavit it relied upon. It is a requisite to a trustee's issuance of a notice of sale that the trustee have in its possession a "declaration by the beneficiary made under the penalty of perjury stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note." *RCW* 61.24.030(7)(a); *Lyons* and *Trujillo II*. Apparently this affidavit was not part of Regional Trustee's business records, as would be statutorily required, and the information Ms. Kaufman relied upon to make her Declaration came from another unidentified source (hearsay). This information is material because without providing the trial court the Affidavit actually relied upon, the trial court could not verify compliance with  $RCW \ 61.24.030(7)(a)$ ; Lyons and Trujillo II. Although a copy of an affidavit of possession is attached to the Declaration of Brandley Lee at CP 757, there was no evidence before the trial court that the Affidavit of Possession attached to Mr. Lee's Declaration was identical to the document Ms. Kaufman referred to in her Declaration and the same document relied upon by Regional Trustee to initiate and prosecute the non-judicial foreclosure of Ms. Conner's home, pursuant to  $RCW \ 61.24.030(7)(a)$ .

Turning to Mr. Lee's Declaration, he makes the statement that "[i]n June 2006, IMC" (Irwin) sold the loan to Fannie Mae and indorsed the Note in blank", but also testifies that "[e]ffective January 2007, loan servicing transferred to EverBank". CP 717. But, how does he know? His company was not involved in the purported transaction. Mr. Lec does not testify that he has ever seen the original Note, so he cannot testify that he has personal knowledge of whether EverBank actually holds and possesses the Note or whether there is an endorsement on the Note or not. Since EverBank did not come into possession of the Note until 2007, EverBank would necessarily have to rely on the business records of Irwin and Fannie Mae (hearsay) to establish the sale of the loan and transfer, evidence that was not offered the trial court. The MERS records offered by Mr. Lee, dated March 5, 2013 (hearsay), do not confirm a sale to Fannie Mae, rather a transfer of "beneficial rights" to Fannie Mae, as an "investor" is referenced. CP 743-744. These issues are material because nowhere in his Declaration does Mr. Lee ever state that he has seen the original Note and can verify, based on that personal inspection, that EverBank or Everhome Mortgage actually holds and has possession of the original Note, with endorsement affixed, or not. Certainly, the original Note was never produced at hearing on summary judgment. Rather, Mr. Lee relies entirely on the business records of Irwin, MERS and Fannie Mae and "data compilations, electronically imaged documents, and others" (hearsay). CP 717.

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