## 74050-1

FILED May 9, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington No.: 74050-4-I

## 74050-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

## PAULINE CONNER,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

EVERHOME MORTGAGE COMPANY, a division of EVERBANK, REGIONAL TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC., MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., a/k/a MERSCORP, FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION, LENDER PROCESSING SERVICES, DOES I-XXX, INCLUSIVE,

Defendants/Respondents.

## **RESPONDENTS' APPELLATE BRIEF**

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

## **IV. ARGUMENT**

#### A. <u>Standard of Review</u>

Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of

7

material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). The moving party bears the initial burden of showing the absence of an issue of material fact. See *Young v. Key Pharm., Inc.,* 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P. 2d 182 (1989). A material fact is one upon which the outcome of the litigation depends. *Graham v. Concord Constr., Inc.,* 100 Wn. App. 851, 854 (2000). Summary judgment should be denied only if a reasonable jury could return a verdict for Appellants on the record they submitted. *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.,* 477 U.S. 242, 251 (1986); *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,* 112 Wn. 2d 216 (1989).

To survive a motion for summary judgment, the nonmoving party has "the burden of establishing specific and material facts to support each element of [his or her] prima facie case." *Hiatt v. Walker Chevrolet Co.*, 120 Wn.2d 57, 66 (1992) (emphasis in original). The nonmoving party must set forth specific facts, by affidavits or otherwise, showing there is a genuine issue for trial. *Young*, 11 Wn.2d at 216. Mere allegations or conclusory averments of fact or legal conclusions cannot raise a genuine issue of material fact. *Baldwin v. Sisters* of *Providence in Wash., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 127, 132, 769 P. 2d 298 (1989).

Summary judgment is reviewed de novo. *Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No.*, 400. 154 Wn.2d 16, 26, 109 P.3d 805 (2005). This Court will consider the same evidence that the trial court considered on summary judgment. *Lybbert v. Grant County*, 141 Wn.2d 29, 34, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000). Yet, this Court may affirm the trial court ruling on any ground supported by the record, "even if the trial court did not consider the argument." *King Cnty. v. Seawest Inv. Assocs.*, LLC, 141 Wn. App. 304, 310, 170 P. 3d 53 (2007) citing *LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 200 - 01, 770 P. 2d 1027 (1989); RAP 2.5(a).

The trial court correctly applied these standards in granting summary judgment to Lender Respondents. Accordingly, this Court should affirm that decision.

## 1. Conner Has Abandoned her all of her claims but Breach of Duty of Good Faith and Her CPA claim and Waived all other claims but a CPA claim

Conner's Amended Complaint contains a cause of action for wrongful foreclosure, fraud, and gross negligence. Conner, however, abandons these claims on appeal. Conner does not raise the trial court's denial of these causes of action as an issue on appeal. These claims are not subject to appellate review.

RCW 61.24.127(1) sets forth what claims are not waived if a borrower fails to enjoin a foreclosure:

(1) The failure of the borrower or grantor to bring a civil action to enjoin

a foreclosure sale under this chapter may not be deemed a waiver of a claim for damages asserting:

- (a) Common law fraud or misrepresentation;
- (b) A violation of Title 19 RCW;
- (c) Failure of the trustee to materially comply with the provisions of this chapter; or

### (d) A violation of RCW 61.24.026

RCW 61.24.127(1) (codifying Laws of 2009, c. 292, § 6 (effective July 26, 2009)).

This statute confirms the borrower's right to assert post-sale claims subject to the limitations in subsection (2). Because Conner failed to restrain the trustee's sale despite her knowledge of the sale, only these non-waived claims set forth in subsection (1) survived post-sale.<sup>1</sup> This is consistent with the three goals of the DTA – (1) that the nonjudicial foreclosure process be efficient and inexpensive, (2) that parties have adequate opportunity to prevent wrongful foreclosure, and (3) that the stability of land titles be promoted. *Plein v. Lackey*, 67 P.3d 1061, 1065, 149 Wash.2d 214, 225 (2003).

Of the non-waived claims enumerated in RCW 61.24.127(1), only the CPA claim is at issue on appeal because: (1) Conner did not raise issue with dismissal of the fraud cause of action on appeal; (2) material noncompliance of the trustee does not apply to Lender Respondents, and (3) a DTA claim does not constitute as a non-waivable claim under RCW 61.24.127(1). As for the CPA claim, it is subject to limitations in RCW 61.24.127(2). This subsection states: (2) the nonwaived claims under subsection (1) of this section are subject to these limitations:

(a) The claim must be asserted or brought within two years from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Conner received notice that the Property was at risk of being sold on January 22, 2010. Not only was she aware of the pending sale, she knew of certain claimed defenses to the sale. See Deposition of Conner, Pg. 91, ¶4-12 and Pg. 101, ¶19-22. CP 338, 349. Conner also recorded several instruments in encumbering the Property<sup>1</sup> and, she filed bankruptcy. Deposition of Conner, Pg. 91, ¶4-12. CP 348.

the date of the foreclosure sale or within the applicable statute of limitations for such claim, whichever expires earlier;

- (b) The claim may not seek any remedy at law or in equity other than monetary damages;
- (c) The claim may not affect in any way the validity or finality of the foreclosure sale or a subsequent transfer of the property;
- (d) A borrower or grantor who files such a claim is prohibited from recording a lis pendens or any other document -22- purporting to create a similar effect, related to the real property foreclosed upon;
- (e) The claim may not operate in any way to encumber or cloud the title to the property that was subject to the foreclosure sale, except to the extent that a judgment on the claim in favor of the borrower or grantor may, consistent with RCW 4.56.190, become a judgment lien on real property then owned by the judgment debtor; and
- (f) The relief that may be granted for judgment upon the claim is limited to actual damages. However, if the borrower or grantor brings in the same civil action a claim for violation of chapter 19.86 RCW, arising out of the same alleged facts, relief under chapter 19.86 RCW is limited to actual damages, treble damages

as provided for in RCW 19.86.090, and the costs of suit, including a reasonable attorney's fee.

Subparagraph (b) and subgraph (c) set limitations on the remedy available to the borrower (i.e., injunctive relief and rescission of the sale are not available remedy). Subparagraph (d) and (e) prohibit the borrower from clouding title (borrower s barred from filing or otherwise encumbering property. Finally, Subparagraph (f) limits claims to actual damages, except to the extent additional damages are recoverable under the CPA. Notwithstanding these limitations, RCW 61.24.127 does not modify the elements of a cause of action under the CPA. *Frias v. Asset Foreclosure Services, Inc.,* 334 P.3d 529, 537, 181 Wash.2d 412, 430 (2014). As explained below, Conner must prove the established requirements of a CPA claim to prevail on her claim, but she fails to meet this burden.

## 2. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed the Trustee's Breach of the Duty of Good Faith against Lender Respondents

The trial court properly concluded in its Memorandum Decision that Everbank, Fannie Mae, and MERS never owed Conner a duty of good faith and fair dealing. CP 14. This cause of action was directed solely at the trustee –Regional Trustee Services, Inc., ("Regional") who was neither a moving party on summary judgment nor a party to this appeal. Moreover, Regional went into receivership and is no longer in operations, Conner's remedy against Regional involved filing a claim in the receivership proceeding. Conner provides no case law or supporting authority for extending a trustee's duty of good faith to other parties. In summary because the trustee's breach of its duty of good faith does not extend to Lender Respondents, Conner's appeal of this issue is without merit.

#### 3. The DTA Claim was Properly Dismissed

Conner's primary cause of action was for "Wrongful Foreclosure", which Conner argues on appeal also encompassed a cause of action for violation of the Deed of Trust Act. Conner based this cause of action on the theory that the assignment from MERS to Everbank was invalid, and Everbank did not have authority to appoint the successor trustee and foreclose. CP 1200. Because the record before the trial court and controlling Washington law refuted Conner's claims, the trial court properly dismissed this wrongful foreclosure/violation of the DTA. Furthermore, Conner waived this cause of action by failing to restrain the sale.

# i. Everbank was the Holder of the Note and Lawful Beneficiary to Foreclose

Conner's Note was originally payable to Irwin Mortgage Corporation ("IMC"). CP 12. Subsequently, IMC indorsed the Note in blank and sold the Note to Fannie Mae. CP12. Thereafter, in January 2007, Fannie Mae transferred to the Note in blank to its servicer, Everbank. CP 12. Everbank has continuously possessed the Note since January 2007 and its counsel provided the original Note available for viewing at the summary judgment hearing. CP 12.

The DTA, specifically, RCW 61.24.005(2), defines beneficiary to mean the holder of the instrument or document evidencing the obligations secured by the Deed of Trust. In *Bain v. Metro. Mortgage Grp. Inc.*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 103-04 (2012), the Washington Supreme Court looked to the Uniform Commercial Code's ("UCC") definition of holder to define that term as used in RCW 61.24.005(2). *Bain v. Metro. Mortgage Grp. Inc.* The Washington UCC defines the "holder" as the "person in possession if the instrument is payable to bearer or to an identified person that is the person in possession." RCW 62A.1-201(21)(A); *Bain*, 175 Wn. 2d at 104. The trial court's ruling that Everbank had the right to foreclose because it was the holder of the Note at all relevant times is consistent with both the Deed of Trust Act and the UCC.

In her Amended Complaint, Conner alleges that MERS was not a valid beneficiary and had no beneficial interest to assign. CP 1200, 1203-1204. In the wake of *Bain* and *Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat. Ass'n*, 181 Wn. 2d 775, 785, 336 P.3d 1142, 1147 (2014), Court have widely rejected generic and conclusory MERS based allegations such as those raised by Conner. *See, e.g., Kullman v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.,* No. 12-cv-5852-RBL, 2012 WL 5922166, at \*2 (W.D. Wash. Nov. 26, 2012) ("Plaintiffs have failed to allege any prejudice arising from MERS's role in the foreclosure."); *Mickelson v. Chase Home Fin. LLC*, No. CII-1445 MJP, 2012 WL 5377905, at \*2-3 (W.D. Wash. Oct.31, 2012) (refusing to reconsider prior orders dismissing CPA claims based in part on characterizing MERS as beneficiary where plaintiffs could not make plausible claims of injury). Furthermore, Conner has no standing to complain of MERS' assignment. *See Brodie v. Nw. Tr. Serv., Inc.*, 2012 WL 6192723, \*2–3 (E.D. Wash. 2012) (a borrower lacks standing to attack a MERS assignment because the borrower is not a party to it and cannot be injured by it); *Ukpoma v. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, 2013 WL 1934172, \*4 (E.D. Wash. 2013) ("Plaintiff, as a third party, lacks standing to challenge" the assignment)... The recording of an assignment is not for the benefit of the borrower, but rather serves the purpose of putting subsequent purchasers on notice of which entity has a security interest in the property. RCW 65.08.070.

Any assignment of the Deed of Trust from MERS to Everbank had no legal effect on the ownership or possession of the Note because, among other things, under Washington law, a security interest follows the obligation it secures. *See e.g.*, *Am. Sav. Bank & Trust Co. v. Helgesen*, 64 Wash. 54, 61 (1911), *on reh'g*, 67 Wash. 572 (1912) ("There is no doubt that a mortgage, or any other security given for the payment of a bill or note, passes by a transfer of the bill or note to the transferee."). In a recent Court of Appeals Division I decision, involving similar allegations as to those here, the Court found "no genuine issue of material fact supporting the allegation that the MERS's assignment of the deed of trust to Wells Fargo was unlawful or defective under the DTA." *McAfee v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc.*, 2016 WL 1562228, at \*4 (Wash.App. Div. 1, 2016). The Court based its ruling on fact that the note was endorsed to Wells Fargo which then subsequently was

assigned the Deed of Trust. *Id.* Therefore, the assignment of the Deed of Trust from MERS to Everbank had no legal significance and is irrelevant to any of the issues here. Conner cannot sustain a wrongful foreclosure claim based on MERS involvement. Consequently, Conner's attacks on the validity of the Deed of Trust assignments are misplaced.

## ii. Conner waived all allegations regarding violations of Chapter 61.24 RCW

Conner misstates the trial court's ruling on the violations of the Deed of Trust Act and misinterprets the waiver application provided in RCW 61.24. First, the trial court noted that Conner did not plead violations of the Deed of Trust Act. CP14. This is accurate. Conner's first amended complaint does not disprove this point. Moreover, the trial court did not base its ruling on waiver but, instead determine that Conner pled no DTA violation.

Under RCW 61.24.127, if a borrower fails to enjoin a foreclosure prior to the trustee's sale, all claims are waived except for the following: (a) common law fraud; (b) violation of Title 19 RCW; (c) failure of the trustee to materially comply with the DTA; and (d) violation of RCW 61.24.026. RCW 61.24.127 (1)(a)-(d). Notably, a violation of the DTA does not appear as a non-waivable claim. Therefore, it is immaterial that Conner filed her lawsuit within two years from the foreclosure sale because she is seeking relief under a cause of action waived by her failure to restrain the trustee's sale. The trial court properly came to this conclusion in granting summary judgment in Lender Respondent's favor.

#### 4. The CPA Claim was Properly Dismissed

A violation of the CPA requires: (1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or commerce; (3) impacts to the public interest; (4) injury to business or property; and (5) causation. *Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co.,* 105 Wash.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986). Failure to meet any of these elements is fatal and necessitates dismissal. *Id;* see also *Sorrel v. Eagle Healthcare,* 110 Wn. App. 290, 298 (2002).

## i. There Was No Unfair or Deceptive Practice Affecting the Public

Whether an action constitutes an unfair or deceptive practice is a question of law." *Columbia Physical Therapy, Inc., PS v. Benton Franklin Orthopedic Associates, PLLC*, 168 Wn.2d 421 (2010). CPA liability requires an act or practice with either: (1) the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public, or (2) that the "alleged act constitutes a per se unfair trade practice." *Hangman Ridge,* 105 Wash. 2d at 785. "Implicit in the definition of 'deceptive' under the CPA is the understanding that the practice misleads or misrepresents something of material importance." *Holiday Resort Cmty. Ass'n,* 134 Wash.App. 210, 135 P.3d 499 (2006).

Conner did not allege a per se violation. The Supreme Court in *Bain* specifically rejected the premise that characterizing MERS as the beneficiary is

"per se" deceptive. *Bain*, 175 Wn.2d at 117. Notably, a plaintiff asserting a MERSbased CPA claim "must produce evidence on each element required to prove a CPA claim." *Id.* "*Bain* is clear that there is no automatic cause of action under the CPA simply because MERS acted as an unlawful beneficiary under the Deed of Trust Act." *Mickelson v. Chase Home Finance*, 901 F. Supp 2d. 1286, 1288 (W.D. Wash 2012), *aff'd* 579 F. App'x 598 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2014).

Therefore, the only method that Conner could establish a CPA claim was to show that Lender Respondents engaged in conduct with a capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public. Here, Conner bases her CPA claim on two theories— (1) the improper assignment from MERS to Everbank; and (2) the appointment of Regional based on the MERS assignment. *Opening Brief, pg.* 29. However, as the trial court properly concluded the "MERS assignment of beneficiary status to Everbank was ineffective to benefit Everbank of harm Plaintiff." CP 13. The trial court also correctly held there is now way plaintiff could have incurred any injury. CP 14. Because Conner failed to produce evidence on the injury or causation elements required to prove her CPA claim, this Court should affirm the trial court's granting of summary judgment.

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